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Chino Commercial Bank (CCB) has become one of the Inland Empire’s leading community banks, with four full-service 
banking offices operating in the diverse and growing economic regions of Chino, Ontario, Rancho Cucamonga, Upland, 
and soon Corona, California. CCB provides small businesses and individuals with high-quality banking products and an 
unmatched personalized level of service.

Founded in September 2000, Chino Commercial Bank was established with an emphasis on the value of local ownership, 
community involvement and commitment to excellent personal service. The Bank’s remarkable growth is a testimony 
to the broad acceptance of CCB’s way of doing business. In 2006, Chino Commercial Bancorp was formed as the holding 
company of Chino Commercial Bank. The organization of our holding company was finalized to expand options for 
raising capital and access to debt markets, increase structural alternatives for acquisitions, and provide greater flexibility 
in pursuing non-banking activities.

Our goal at Chino Commercial Bank is to deliver exceptional customer service that distinguishes us from other banks. 
We have established high standards to ensure an unparalleled level of service, supporting our financial performance 
objectives and enhancing shareholder value. In the future, the Bank will continue to implement new technologies, 
expand our collective expertise, and strengthen our unique competitive advantage.

The common stock of Chino Commercial Bancorp is traded on the Over-the-Counter Markets (OTC Markets) under 
the stock symbol “CCBC”.
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Y E A R S
Over the past 25 years, Chino Commercial Bank 

has built something truly special—a financial 
institution that not only drives community 

prosperity but also delivers exceptional returns 
for our investors. Our disciplined approach 
to growth, risk management, and market 

leadership has consistently outpaced broader 
indices, reinforcing our position as a top-

performing community bank. To showcase this 
success, our investor dashboard highlights key 

metrics: record earnings growth, strong dividend 
performance, rising shareholder value, and a 
track record of resilience through economic 

cycles. Looking ahead, we remain committed 
to sustained expansion, strategic innovation, 

and maximizing investor value.
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As of and For the Years Ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024

(Dollars in Thousands, except per share data)

SELECTED BALANCE SHEET DATA:
 Total assets $ 399,836 $ 446,414 $ 466,678

 Loans receivable   176,556  179,316   205,235

 Deposits    337,453  319,801   348,840

 Non-interest bearing deposits    204,189  167,131   166,639

 Subordinated notes payable to subsidiary trust   3,093  3,093   3,093

 Subordinated debt   10,000  10,000   10,000

 Shareholders’ equity    32,350  37,488   42,705

   

SELECTED OPERATING DATA:
 Interest income   $ 13,862 $ 18,782 $ 22,033

 Net income   4,713   4,937   5,139

 Income per basic share    1.47   1.54   1.60

 Income per diluted share    1.47   1.54   1.60

   

PERFORMANCE RATIOS
 Return on average assets   1.17%  1.11%  1.10%

 Return on average equity   15.55%  14.26%  12.85%

 Equity to total assets at the end of the period  8.09%  8.40%  9.15%

 Core efficiency ratio  50.57%  41.12%  38.64%

 Non-interest expense to average assets   2.01%  1.98%  2.08%

   

REGULATORY RATIOS
 Average equity to average assets   7.49%  7.79%  8.53%

 Leverage capital   9.27%  9.26%  10.40%
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

We are very pleased to present you with Chino Commercial 
Bancorp’s annual report, for the year 2024.  

On September 1, 2025, the Bank will have reached 25 years 
since opening for business.  Having been there 25 years 
ago, I can tell you, the time has passed very quickly.  And 
though technology has changed significantly over the last 
25 years, the value of the Bank’s customer service has not.  
In the past, I wondered if a small community bank could 
compete with the big banks, and I am glad to report that 
the Bank’s value proposition is even more valuable today 
than when we started 25 years ago.  Not that customer’s 
needs have changed, but that there are not as many small 
banks offering the same level of service.

During 2024, the Bank was again recognized by the Findley Reports on Financial Institutions, in  
receiving Findley’s highest rating of “Super Premier Performing Bank” based upon the operations 
of the Bank for the previous year.  The Bank also received the highest rating of “Five Star” from 
Bauer Financial, an independent Bank and Credit Union rating service.  

Fortunately, during 2024, the Federal Reserve began a process for reducing interest rates, by  
bringing down the Fed Funds rate by 1.0%, to 4.5%.  This move primarily affected short-term  
interest rates, and lowered the cost of deposit.  Because loans re-price more slowly than deposits, 
this lowering of interest rates improved the Bank’s Net Interest Margin and improved earnings, 
both at our Bank, and within the banking industry.   During this same period, the yield on longer- 
term maturities began to moderately increase, resulting in a positive yield curve for the first  
time since July 2022.  This positive yield curve may allow the banking industry, and our Bank in 
particular, to enjoy a greater net interest spread going forward.

The Merchant Services program continues to perform very well, with the Bank processing over  
$4 million per month in sales volume.  As a Sponsor with the Card Brand Association, the Bank  
settles transactions directly with the Card Brands, without the need for third party processors.   
This improvement in processing allows for enhanced efficiency, profitability and control.  With 
roughly 140 Merchants in the program, the Bank’s Merchant Services offering is both profitable, 
and an important part of the new business development strategy.

In 2024 the Bank purchased a building in Corona, which will serve as the new Corona Branch office.  
This location will be the Bank’s fifth office, with the grand opening planned for mid-April 2025.   
Early business development efforts are exceeding expectations, with the branch having $9.5MM  
in deposits at year-end.  The Corona branch represents an exciting expansion into a new active 
business community, which will offer opportunities not only in Corona, but also into Riverside and 
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Orange County.  The new Corona branch will offer  
Deposit and Loan Services, as well as Merchant  
Services, Safe Deposit, and Cash Management.

As you will read, fiscal year 2024 was a very good year for 
the Bank, with Total Assets increasing by $20 million, or 
4.5%, bringing the total up to $466 million, and reaching  
a new record level.  Total Deposits also increased by  
$29 million, or 9%, to $355 million.  Similarly, total Loans 
increased by $26 million or 14%, to $205 million.  The  
Loan portfolio continued to perform very well in 2024, 
with the Bank having no delinquent loans at year-end, 
and loan losses representing a net recovery of $170 
thousand.  This marked the 8th consecutive year, that 
the Bank’s loan loss experience was a net recovery.  The 
Bank’s Classified loans continue to pay as agreed with  
no further deterioration. 

Despite some challenges to the economy, we believe  
that the Bank’s value proposition of providing excellent 
customer service, coupled with leading technology  
to small businesses and professionals, is even more  
compelling today than in the past.  Many banks offer  
online banking and access through mobile devices;  
however, very few banks offer a direct telephone number 
and a person when you need help.  It is this combination 
of warm and friendly personal service, coupled with  
leading technology that makes Chino Commercial Bank 
the right choice.

On behalf of your Board of Directors, Management, and 
Staff, I would like to thank you for your confidence and 
continued support of the Bank and look forward to  
another successful year.  

TOTAL ASSETS

22 23 24

(in millions)
466

446

400

SHAREHOLDER’S
EQUITY

22 23 24

(in millions)

42.7

37.5
32.4

TOTAL LOANS

22 23 24

(in millions)
205

179
177

Sincerely,

Dann H. Bowman
President and Chief Executive Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors 
Chino Commercial Bancorp and Subsidiary 
Chino, California

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chino Commercial Bancorp  
and Subsidiary, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial condition as  
of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of net income,  
comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and %s for the years then ended,  
and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position  
of Chino Commercial Bancorp and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of their operations and their  
cash flows for years then ended, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS).  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated  
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Chino Commercial Bancorp and Subsidiary, and  
to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design, implementation, and maintenance 
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Chino Commercial Bancorp and Subsidiary’s ability to continue  
as a going concern for one year after the date that the consolidated financial statements are available to be issued.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable  
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted  
in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material  
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial 
likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the  
consolidated financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
	 •	 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

	 •	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or  
		  error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test  
		  basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

	 •	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in  
		  the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Chino Commercial Bancorp and  
		  Subsidiary’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

	 •	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made  
		  by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

	 •	 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt  
		  about Chino Commercial Bancorp and Subsidiary’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters that we identified during the audit.

 
Laguna Hills, California 
February 25, 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
December 31, 2024 and 2023

	 2024	 2023

ASSETS
	 Cash and due from banks 	 $ 	 45,256,619	 $ 	 35,503,719
	 Fed funds sold 		  31,029		  25,218

				    Cash and cash equivalents 		  45,287,648		  35,528,937

	 Debt securities available for sale, at fair value
		  (amortized cost 2024 - $7,570,786, 2023 - $7,708,493, net
		  of allowance for credit losses 2024 - $0, 2023 - $0) (note 2) 		  6,558,341		  6,736,976 
	 Debt securities held to maturity, net of allowance for credit
		  losses 2024 - $0, 2023 - $0 (note 2) 		  190,701,756		  208,506,305

				    Total debt securities 		  197,260,097		  215,243,281

	 Loans held for investment, net of allowance for credit losses
		  of $4,623,739 in 2024, and $4,465,622 in 2023, (note 4) 		  200,107,193		  174,352,293
	 Stock investments, restricted, at cost (note 3) 		  3,576,000		  3,126,100
	 Fixed assets, net (note 5) 		  7,255,785		  5,466,358
	 Accrued interest receivable 		  1,539,506		  1,439,178
	 Company owned life insurance 		  8,482,043		  8,247,174
	 Other assets 		  3,170,160		  3,010,916

				    Total assets 	 $ 	 466,678,432 	 $ 	 446,414,237

LIABILITIES
	 Deposits (note 7)
	 Noninterest-bearing 	 $ 	 166,639,133 	 $ 	 167,131,411
	 Interest-bearing 		  182,200,703 		  152,669,374

				    Total deposits 		  348,839,836 		  319,800,785

	 Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) advances (note 8) 		  - 		  15,000,000
	 Federal Reserve Bank (FRB) borrowing (note 8) 		  60,000,000 		  57,000,000
	 Subordinated debt (note 8) 		  10,000,000 		  10,000,000
	 Subordinated notes payable to subsidiary trust (note 9) 		  3,093,000 		  3,093,000
	 Accrued interest payable 		  132,812 		  2,156,153
	 Other liabilities 		  1,907,588 		  1,876,474

				    Total liabilities 		  423,973,236 		  408,926,412

	 Commitments and contingent liabilities (notes 13 and 14) 		  - 		  -

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
	 Common stock, no par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized
		  and 3,211,970 shares issued and outstanding
		  at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 		  10,502,557 		  10,502,557
	 Retained earnings 		  34,059,943 		  28,920,732
	 Accumulated other comprehensive loss - unrecognized
		  loss on available for sale, net of taxes of  
			   $727,671 in 2024 and $758,293 in 2023 		  (1,857,304) 		  (1,935,464)

				    Total shareholders’ equity 		  42,705,196		  37,487,825

				    Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 	 $ 	 466,678,432	 $ 	 446,414,237
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET INCOME
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

	 2024	 2023

INTEREST INCOME
	 Interest and fees on loans 	 $ 	 11,924,729 	 $ 	 9,823,006
	 Interest on investment securities 		  7,404,335 		  4,808,931
	 Other interest income 		  2,703,762 		  4,149,741

				    Total interest income 		  22,032,826 		  18,781,678

INTEREST EXPENSE
	 Interest on deposits 		  4,415,006 		  2,776,069
	 Interest on borrowings 		  3,901,895 		  2,990,249

				    Total interest expense 		  8,316,901 		  5,766,318

NET INTEREST INCOME 		  13,715,925 		  13,015,360

REVERSAL OF CREDIT LOSSES (NOTE 4) 		  - 		  (85,000)

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER PROVISION FOR CREDIT LOSSES 		  13,715,925 		  13,100,360

NONINTEREST INCOME
	 Service charges and fees on deposit accounts 		  1,809,083 		  1,605,884
	 Interchange fees 		  417,002 		  413,421
	 Earnings from company owned life insurance 		  234,869 		  192,683
	 Merchant services processing 		  544,675 		  197,737
	 Other miscellaneous income 		  199,493 		  181,483

				    Total noninterest income 		  3,205,122 		  2,591,208

NONINTEREST EXPENSE
	 Salaries and employee benefits 	 	 6,056,072 	 	 5,478,872
	 Occupancy and equipment 		  692,705 		  604,614
	 Merchant services processing 		  298,294 		  140,364
	 Other expenses (note 11) 		  2,705,643 		  2,569,540

				    Total noninterest expense 		  9,752,714 		  8,793,390

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 		  7,168,333 		  6,898,178
PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES 		  2,029,122 		  1,961,483

NET INCOME 	 $ 	 5,139,211 	 $ 	 4,936,695

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 	 $ 	 1.60 	 $ 	 1.54

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 	 $ 	 1.60 	 $ 	 1.54
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

	 2024	 2023

NET INCOME	 $ 	 5,139,211 	 $ 	 4,936,695

	 Other comprehensive gain (loss), net of tax effects

		  Net unrealized holding (loss) gain on securities
			   available for sale during the period net of tax effects
			   of $11,522 and $147,905 in 2024 and 2023, respectively 		  (29,406) 		  377,512

	 	 Reclassification adjustment for accretion of unrealized
			   holding loss included in accumulated other comprehensive
			   income from the transfer of securities from available- 
			   for-sale to held-to-maturity 		  107,566 		  109,405

				    Total other comprehensive income 		  78,160 		  486,917

				    Total comprehensive income 	 $ 	 5,217,371 	 $ 	 5,423,612
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

				    ACCUMULATED
				    OTHER
	 NUMBER OF 	 COMMON 	 RETAINED 	 COMPREHENSIVE
	 SHARES 	 STOCK 	 EARNINGS 	 INCOME (LOSS) 	 TOTAL

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2022 	 2,676,799 	 $ 	 10,502,557 	 $ 	 24,269,527 	 $ 	 (2,422,381) 	 $ 	32,349,703

	 Cumulative change in  
		  accounting principle (note 1)	 - 		  - 		  (282,897) 		  - 		  (282,897)

	 Net income 	 - 		  - 		  4,936,695 		  - 		  4,936,695
	
	 Change in unrealized gain on
		  securities available for sale,  
		  net of tax 	 - 		  - 		  - 		  486,917 		  486,917

	 Stock dividends (note 16) 	 535,171 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

	 Cash in lieu of fractional  
		  stock dividends (note 16) 	 - 		  - 		  (2,593) 		  - 		  (2,593)

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2023 	 3,211,970 		  10,502,557 		  28,920,732 		  (1,935,464) 		  37,487,825

	 Net income 	 - 		  - 		  5,139,211 		  - 		  5,139,211

	 Change in unrealized gain on
		  securities available for sale,  
		  net of tax 	 - 		  - 		  - 		  78,160 		  78,160

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2024 	 3,211,970 	 $ 	 10,502,557 	 $ 	 34,059,943 	 $ 	 (1,857,304) 	 $	 42,705,196
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

	 2024	 2023

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
	 Net income 	 $ 	 5,139,211	 $ 	 4,936,695
	 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
	 from operating activities
		  Reversal of credit losses 		  - 		  (85,000)
		  Depreciation and amortization 		  284,481 		  277,788
	 	 Loss on disposition of fixed assets 	 	 268 	 	 7,640
		  Net (accretion) of discount and amortization
			   of premium on securities 		  (330,882) 		  (44,938)
		  Earnings from company owned life insurance 		  (234,869) 		  (192,683)
	 	 Deferred income tax (benefit) 	 	 28,853 	 	 (94,521)
		  Change in accrued interest receivable 		  (100,328) 		  (285,567)
		  Change in accrued interest payable 		  (2,023,341) 		  2,031,206
		  Other items, net 		  (193,746) 		  32,323

Net Cash from Operating Activities 		  2,569,647 		  6,582,943

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
	 Purchase of securities held to maturity 		  (18,647,863) 		  (63,991,443)
	 Proceeds from principal payments received and
		  maturities of securities held to maturity 		  37,070,711 		  16,486,975
	 Net (increase) decrease in loans 		  (25,748,759) 		  1,875,796
	 Purchases of stock investments, restricted 		  (449,900) 		  (1,080,900)
	 Purchase of fixed assets 	 	 (2,074,176) 	 	 (125,380)

Net Cash used for Investing Activities 		  (9,849,987) 		  (46,834,952)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
	 Net increase (decrease) in deposits 		  29,039,051 		  (17,652,478)
	 Repayment of FHLB advances 		  (15,000,000) 		  -
	 Proceeds from FRB advances 		  60,000,000 		  57,000,000
	 Repayment of FRB advances 		  (57,000,000) 		  -
	 Cash paid in lieu of fractional stock dividends 		  - 		  (2,594)

Net Cash from Financing Activities 		  17,039,051 		  39,344,928

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 		  9,758,711 		  (907,081)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 		  35,528,937 		  36,436,018

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 	 $ 	 45,287,648 	 $ 	35,528,937

Supplemental Disclosure for Cash Flow Information
	 Interest paid 	 $ 	 10,340,242 	 $ 	 3,735,112

	 Income taxes paid 	 $ 	 2,737,631 	 $ 	 1,445,000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

NOTE 1 | SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Chino Commercial Bancorp and its wholly owned subsidiary,  
Chino Commercial Bank, N.A. (the “Bank”), collectively referred to herein as the “Company”. All significant intercompany balances  
and transactions have been eliminated. Chino Commercial Bancorp is a California corporation registered as a bank holding  
company under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, and is headquartered in Chino, California. Chino Commercial 
Bank, N.A. is a nationally chartered bank, was incorporated on December 8, 1999, and began operations on September 1, 2000. 
Chino Commercial Bancorp has no significant business activity other than its investment in the Bank. Accordingly, no separate 
financial information on Chino Commercial Bancorp is provided.

Nature of Operations

The Company has been organized as a single operating segment and operates four full-service offices in Chino, Ontario,  
Rancho Cucamonga and Upland, California. The Company provides a variety of commercial banking services to individuals  
and small businesses primarily in the Inland Empire region of Southern California. Its primary lending products are real estate  
and commercial loans. Its primary deposit products are non-interest- bearing deposits and money market accounts.

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the 
date of the consolidated statements of financial condition and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to significant change 
in the near term relate to the determination of the allowance for credit losses and the valuation of the deferred tax asset.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For the purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, due from banks, interest bearing demand 
deposits, and federal funds sold. Generally, federal funds are sold for one-day periods.

Cash and Due from Banks

Banking regulations require that banks maintain a percentage of their deposits as reserves in cash or on deposit with the  
Federal Reserve Bank. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the required reserve percentage is zero. The Company was in  
compliance with its reserve requirements as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The Company maintains amounts due from banks, which may exceed federally insured limits. Management regularly evaluates 
the credit risk associated with the due from banks accounts and believes that the Company is not exposed to any significant 
credit risks on cash and cash equivalents. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts.
 

Debt Securities

The Company classifies its debt securities as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. Securities classified as available-for-sale  
are recorded at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported in comprehensive income.  
Securities, which the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity, are classified as held-to-maturity and  
are carried at amortized cost.

Purchase premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using methods approximating the interest method over the 
terms of the securities. Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the 
specific identification method.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Allowance for Credit Losses – Available-for-Sale Securities

The Company measures the allowance for credit losses on available-for-sale debt securities by first assessing whether it intends 
to sell, or it is more likely than not that it will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost. If it is  
determined that the Company intends or will be required to sell the security, it is written down to its fair value through income. 
For securities issued by government agencies that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, there are no expected credit losses 
as they are guaranteed by the U.S. government are highly rated by major rating agencies, and have a long history of no credit 
losses. For other debt securities that do not meet the aforementioned criteria, the Company evaluates whether the decline in  
fair value has resulted from credit losses or other factors. In making this assessment management considers the extent to which 
fair value is less than amortized cost, any changes to the rating of the security by a rating agency, and adverse conditions  
specifically related to the security, among other factors. If this assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value  
of cash flows expected to be collected from the security are compared to the amortized cost of the security. If the present  
value of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists and an allowance for  
credit losses on available-for-sale investments is recorded and is limited to the amount that the fair value is less than the 
amortized cost basis. Any impairment that has not been recorded though an allowance for credit losses is recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss).

Changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded as provision for or (reversal of) credit losses. Losses are charged against 
the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of an available-for-sale debt security is confirmed or when the 
criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met.

Accrued interest receivable on available-for-sale debt securities totaling $100,147 at December 31, 2024 and 2023 is included  
in interest receivable on the consolidated statements of financial condition and is excluded from the estimate of credit losses.

Allowance for Credit Losses (ACL) – Held-to-Maturity Securities

The Company measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities on a collective basis by major security type. 
For agency mortgage-backed securities there are no expected credit losses as they are guaranteed by the U.S. government, are 
highly rated by major rating agencies, and have a long history of no credit losses. For non-agency and states and municipality  
securities, the estimate of expected credit losses considered historical credit loss information that is adjusted for current  
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Changes in the ACL on held-to-maturity debt securities are recorded as  
a component of provision for credit losses in the consolidated statements of net income. Losses are charged against the ACL 
when the Company believes the uncollectibility of a held-to-maturity debt security is confirmed.

Accrued interest receivable on held-to-maturity debt securities totaled $591,174 at December 31, 2024 and $626,963 at  
December 31, 2023 and included in interest receivable on the consolidated statements of financial condition and excluded  
from the estimate of credit losses.

Equity Securities

Equity securities are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value reported in net income. Equity securities without readily  
determinable fair values are carried at cost, minus impairment, if any plus or minus changes resulting from observable price 
changes in orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment.
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Loans Held for Investment

The Company grants real estate, commercial and consumer loans to customers. A substantial portion of the loan portfolio is  
represented by real estate loans in the Inland Empire area. The ability of the Company’s debtors to honor their contracts is  
dependent upon the general economic conditions in this area.

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off generally are 
reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances.

Loans are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balance adjusted for the allowance for credit losses and any deferred 
fees and costs on originated loans.

Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued at the time the  
loan is 90 days delinquent unless the credit is well secured and in process of collection. Past due status is based on contractual 
terms of the loan. Loans are placed on non-accrual or charged-off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is  
considered doubtful.

All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on non-accrual or charged-off is reversed against interest  
income. The interest on these loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to 
accrual. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current 
and future payments are reasonably assured.

Loan origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the related loan 
yield using the interest method.
 

Allowance for Credit Losses - Loans

The ACL for loans is a valuation allowance for the current expected credit losses in the Company’s loan portfolio that is  
deducted from the loan’s amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be collected. Loans are charged-off  
against the allowance when management believes the collectability of the loan balance is unlikely. Subsequent recoveries, if  
any, are credited to the ACL.

Management estimates the allowance over the loan’s entire contractual term, adjusted for expected prepayments when  
appropriate. The allowance estimate considers relevant, available information from internal and external sources relating to past 
events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Historical credit loss experience provides the basis for the  
estimation of expected credit losses. Adjustments to historical loss information are made for qualitative or environmental factors 
that cause the estimate for expected losses as of the evaluation date to differ from historical loss experience. Qualitative factors 
include consideration of the following: changes in lending policies and procedures; changes in economic conditions, changes in the 
nature and volume of the portfolio; changes in the experience, ability and depth of lending management and other relevant staff; 
changes in the volume and severity of past due, nonaccrual and other adversely graded loans; changes in the loan review system; 
changes in concentrations of credit; new model implementation, the effect of other unforeseen factors such as geopolitical issues 
and COVID 19.

The ACL is measured on a collective (pool) basis when similar risk characteristics exist and on an individual basis when  
management determines that the loan does not share similar risk characteristics with other loans. The Company has identified 
the following loan pools: real estate-commercial, real estate- consumer, construction, commercial and other. Relevant risk  
characteristics for portfolio segments include product type, collateral type, assigned grade, and years to maturity. The  
Company uses the Probability of Default/Loss Given Default method to measure the ACL for all loan pools to calculate a loss  
rate that combines the pool’s risk characteristics, historical loss experience, and reasonable and supportable economic forecasts 
to project lifetime losses.
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Loans that do not share similar risk characteristics to their loan pool are evaluated on an individual basis and are excluded  
from the collective measurement. Loans can be identified for individual evaluation for various reasons including delinquency,  
nonaccrual status, risk rating and loan modifications. A loan is considered to be collateral dependent when repayment is  
expected to be provided substantially through the operation or sale of the collateral. The ACL on collateral dependent loans is 
measured using the amortized cost basis of the financial asset less the fair value of the underlying collateral, adjusted for costs  
to sell, when applicable. If the value of the underlying collateral is determined to be less than the recorded amount of the loan,  
a specific reserve for that loan is recorded. If the Company determines that the loss represented by the specific reserve is  
uncollectible it records a charge-off for the uncollectible portion.

Accrued interest receivable on loans totaled $827,983 and $692,079 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and included 
in interest receivable on the consolidated statements of financial condition and excluded from the estimate of credit losses.

Loan Modifications

Upon the adoption of ASU 2022-02 on January 1, 2023, the Company applied the general loan modification guidance provided 
in ASC 310-20 to all loan modifications, including modifications made for borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. The Company 
considers some of the indicators that a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty to be: currently in payment default on any of 
their debt, declaring bankruptcy, going concern, insufficient cash flow to service all debt service requirements, inability to obtain 
funds from other sources at a market rate for similar debt to non-troubled borrowers, and currently classified as substandard 
loans that are categorized as having well-defined weaknesses.

ASU 2022-02 requires that certain types of modifications be reported, which consist of (1) principal forgiveness; (2) interest rate 
reduction; (3) other-than-insignificant payment delay; (4) term extension; and any combination of the above. Since adoption of 
ASU 2022-02 on January 1, 2023, the Company did not have any new loan modifications during the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023.

Loan Portfolio Segments

Management segregates the loan portfolio into portfolio segments for purposes of developing and documenting a systematic  
method for determining its allowance for loan losses. The portfolio segments are segregated based on loan types and the  
underlying risk factors present in each loan type. Such risk factors are periodically reviewed by management and revised as 
deemed appropriate.

The Company’s loan portfolio is segregated into the following portfolio segments.

Real Estate, Commercial

This portfolio segment includes loans secured by commercial real estate, including multi-family dwellings. Loans secured by  
commercial real estate generally have larger loan balances and more credit risk than one-to-four-family mortgage loans. The 
increased risk is the result of several factors, including the concentration of principal in a limited number of loans and borrowers, 
the impact of local and general economic conditions on the borrower’s ability to repay the loan, and the increased difficulty of 
evaluating and monitoring these types of loans.

Real Estate, Consumer

This portfolio segment consists of the origination of first mortgage loans and home equity second mortgage loans secured by  
one-to-four-family owner occupied residential properties located in the Company’s market area. The Company has experienced 
no foreclosures on its owner-occupied loan portfolio during recent periods and believes this is due mainly to its conservative 
lending strategies including its non-participation in “interest only”, “Option ARM”, “sub-prime” or “Alt-A” loans.
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Construction

This portfolio segment includes construction projects on commercial real estate, 1-4 units residential, and multi-family dwelling 
(5+ units). At Chino Commercial Bank, construction loans are generally written for 2 years or less.

Construction loans involved higher risk that commercial and industrial loans, CRE loans and residential mortgages. Risk  
association with construction includes borrower’s ability to successfully complete a proposed project on time and within  
budget; changing market conditions; regulatory changes that may negatively impact the proposed real estate project’s value; 
interest rate risk; and environmental risk.

The short-term nature of the construction projects that the Bank is willing to approve help mitigate the risk associated with 
changing market conditions, interest rate risk as well as proposed regulatory changes. To ensure that the project can be  
completed successful, both the borrower and the general contractor has to be approved by the Bank. Detailed itemized  
construction cost is reviewed by a 3rd party. During the construction period, periodic site visits are made. Construction  
funds are disbursed by the Bank and/or 3rd party funds control.

Environmental risk is mitigated by the Bank obtaining an environment report as part of the approval process.

Commercial

This portfolio segment includes commercial business loans secured by assignments of corporate assets and personal guarantees 
of the business owners, and includes origination of first mortgage loans secured by non-owner occupied residential properties 
in its market area. Commercial business loans generally have higher interest rates and shorter terms than one-to-four-family 
residential loans, but they also may involve higher average balances, increased difficulty of loan monitoring and a higher risk of 
default since their repayment generally depends on the successful operation of the borrower’s business. First mortgage loans 
lending involves additional risks arising from the use of the properties by non-owners.

Other

This portfolio segment includes loans to individuals for personal purposes, including but not limited to automobile loans.  
This portfolio segment also includes loans to individuals for overdraft protection and personal lines of credit.

Allowance for Credit Losses - Off-Balance Sheet Credit Exposures

The Company establishes a liability for estimated expected credit losses on unfunded commitments to originate or fund loans   
and standby letters of credit, excluding commitments that are unconditionally cancellable. The estimate is included in “other  
liabilities” on the consolidated statements of financial condition. Expected credit losses are estimated over the contractual  
period in which the Company is exposed to credit risk through the commitment adjusted for anticipated prepayments  
when appropriate. The estimate of the liability also considers the likelihood that funding will occur. The ACL on unfunded  
commitments is adjusted through provision for credit losses on the consolidated statements of net income. The underwriting 
process and risks associated with unfunded commitments and standby letters of credit are essentially the same as loans and 
therefore the Company uses the same ACL process as loans to estimate the liability.
 

FHLB Stock and Other Investments

The Company is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB”) system. Members are required to own a certain amount  
of stock based on the level of borrowings and other factors, and may invest in additional amounts. In addition, the Company  
is a member of its regional Federal Reserve Bank (“FRB”). FHLB and FRB stock are carried at cost, classified as a restricted  
security, and periodically evaluated for impairment based on the ultimate recovery of par value. Both cash and stock dividends 
are reported as income.
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The Company elected the measurement alternative for measuring equity securities without readily determinable fair values at 
cost less impairment, plus or minus observable price changes in orderly transactions. The carrying amount of equity securities 
without readily determinable fair values is $144,000 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and includes investment in Pacific  
Coast Bankers’ Bank (“PCBB”). Adjustments to the carrying value of bankers bank stock is based on observable activity in  
the stock.

Company Owned Life Insurance

The Company has purchased life insurance policies on certain officers. Company-owned life insurance is recorded at its cash 
surrender value (or the amount that can be realized).

Premises and Equipment

Company premises and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is provided  
for in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimated service lives. Building  
improvements are amortized over 39 years or the service lives of the improvements, whichever is shorter. Leasehold  
improvements are amortized over the lesser of the respective lease term (including renewal periods that are reasonably  
assured) or their useful lives. The straight-line method of depreciation is followed for financial reporting purposes, while both 
accelerated and straight-line methods are followed for income tax purposes.

Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at contract inception and recognize right-of-use (“ROU”) assets  
and operating lease liabilities based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. While operating leases may 
include options to extend the term, the Company does not take into account the options in calculating the ROU asset and  
lease liability unless it is reasonably certain such options will be reasonably exercised. The present value of lease payments is  
determined based on the Company’s incremental borrowing rate and other information available at lease commencement.  
Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. Lease expense is  
recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected to account for lease agreements with  
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.
 

Foreclosed Assets

Assets acquired through, or in lieu of, loan foreclosure are held for sale and are initially recorded at fair value less cost to sell  
at the date of foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. Subsequent to foreclosure, valuations are periodically performed by 
management and the assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Revenue and expenses  
from operations and changes in the valuation allowance are included in net expenses from foreclosed assets.

Loss Contingencies

Loss contingencies, including claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business, are recorded as liabilities when 
the likelihood of loss is probable, and an amount or range of loss can be reasonable estimated. Management does not believe 
there now are such matters that will have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Transfers of Financial Assets

Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control over the assets has been surrendered. Control over  
transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been isolated from the Company – put presumptively 
beyond the reach of the transferor and its creditors, even in bankruptcy or other receivership, (2) the transferee obtains the  
right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and  
(3) the Company does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them  
before their maturity or the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific assets.

Revenue Recognition – Noninterest Income

In accordance with Topic 606, revenues are recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferred to customers  
in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.  
To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that an entity determines are within the scope of Topic 606, the Company per-
forms the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligation in the  
contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligation in the contract; 
and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation. The Company only applies the five-step 
model to contracts when it is probable that the entity will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for the goods  
or services it transfers to the customer. At contract inception, once the contract is determined to be within the scope of Topic 
606, the Company assesses the goods or services that are promised within each contract and identifies those that contain  
performance obligation, and assesses whether each promised good or service is distinct. The Company then recognizes as  
revenue the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the respective performance obligation when (or as) the  
performance obligation is satisfied.

The following is a discussion of key revenues within the scope of Topic 606 revenue guidance.

•	 Service Charges and Fees on Deposit Accounts

The Company earns fees from its deposit customers for account maintenance, transaction-based and overdraft services. 
Account maintenance fees consist primarily of account fees and analyzed account fees charged on deposit accounts on a 
monthly basis. The performance obligation is satisfied, and the fees are recognized on a monthly basis as the service period is 
completed. Transaction-based fees on deposits accounts are charged to deposit customers for specific services provided to 
the customer, such as non-sufficient funds fees, overdraft fees, and wire fees. The performance obligation is completed  
as the transaction occurs and the fees are recognized at the time each specific service is provided to the customer.

•	 Interchange Fees

Interchange fees represents fees earned when a debit card issued by the Company is used. The Company earns interchange 
fees from debit cardholder transactions through a payment network. Interchange fees from cardholder transactions  
represent a percentage of the underlying transaction value and are recognized daily, concurrently with the transaction  
processing services provided to the cardholder. The performance obligation is satisfied and the fees are earned when the 
cost of the transaction is charged to the card. Certain expenses directly associated with the debit card are recorded on a  
net basis with the fee income.

Advertising and Marketing Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Such costs were $154,835 and $141,572, respectively, for the years ended  
December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary differences between  
the book bases and tax bases of various assets and liabilities. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce  
the deferred tax asset to the amount expected to be realized. The current and deferred taxes are based on the provisions of  
currently enacted tax laws and rates. As changes in tax laws are enacted, deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted  
accordingly through the provision for income taxes.

The Company uses a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and  
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Benefits from tax positions are recognized in  
the financial statements only when it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination by  
the appropriate taxing authority that would have full knowledge of all relevant information. A tax position that meets the  
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely  
of being realized upon ultimate settlement. Tax positions that previously failed to meet the more-likely-than-not recognition 
threshold are recognized in the first subsequent financial reporting period in which that threshold is met. Previously recognized 
tax positions that no longer meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold are derecognized in the first subsequent  
financial reporting period in which that threshold is no longer met. Interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions 
are classified as income tax expense. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have a tax position that failed to 
meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold.

Earnings per Share (“EPS”)

Basic earnings per share represent income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted-average number of  
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect additional common shares that would have 
been outstanding if dilutive potential common shares had been issued, as well as any adjustment to income that would result 
 from the assumed issuance. Potential common shares that may be issued by the Company relate solely to outstanding stock  
options, and are determined using the treasury stock method. There were no common stock equivalents that are dilutive at  
December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company declared a stock split during 2023, which is effected in the form of a dividend.  
As a result, the shares outstanding have been adjusted retroactively for all periods presented in the consolidated financial  
statements. The weighted-average number of shares for basic and diluted earnings was 3,211,970 in 2024 and in 2023.

Comprehensive Income

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that recognized revenue, expenses, gains,  
and losses be included in net income. Although certain changes in assets and liabilities, such as unrealized gains and losses  
on available-for-sale securities, are reported as a separate component of the equity section of the consolidated statements  
of financial condition, such items, along with net income, are components of comprehensive income.

Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has entered into off-balance sheet financial instruments consisting of  
commitments to extend credit, commercial letters of credit, and standby letters of credit as described in Note 14. Such  
financial instruments are recorded in the consolidated financial statements when they are funded or related fees are incurred  
or received.
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Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or 
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement 
date. Current accounting guidance establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable 
inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

The guidance describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity has the ability to access as of 
the measurement date.

Level 2: Significant other observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted 
prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
 
Level 3: Significant unobservable inputs that reflect a Company’s own assumptions about the assumptions that market  
participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

See Notes 18 and 19 for more information and disclosures relating to the Company’s fair value measurements.

Operating Segments

While the chief decision-makers monitor the revenue streams of the various products and services, operations are managed,  
and financial performance is evaluated on a Company-wide basis. Discrete operating results are not reviewed by senior  
management to make resource allocation or performance decisions. Accordingly, all of the financial service operations are  
considered by management to be aggregated in one reportable operating segment.

The Company’s reportable segments are determined by the Chief Executive Officer, who is the designated chief operating  
decision maker (CODM), based upon information provided about the Company’s products and services offered, primarily  
banking operations. The segment is also distinguished by the level of information provided to the CODM, who uses such  
information to review performance of various components of the business, which are then aggregated if operating performance, 
products/services, and customers are similar. The CODM will evaluate the financial performance of the Company’s business  
components such as by evaluating revenue streams, significant expenses, and budget to actual results in assessing the  
Company’s segment and in the determination of allocating resources. The CODM uses revenue streams to evaluate product  
pricing and significant expenses to assess performance and evaluate return on assets. The CODM uses consolidated net income 
to benchmark the Company against its competitors. The benchmarking analysis coupled with monitoring of budget to actual 
results are used in assessing performance and in establishing compensation. Loans and investments provide the revenues in 
the banking operation. Interest expense, provisions for credit losses and payroll provide the significant expenses in the banking 
operation. All operations are domestic. Segment performance is evaluated using consolidated net income. Information reported 
internally for performance assessment by the CODM is included within the statements of income.
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Adoption of New Accounting Standards

Effective January 1, 2024, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): 
Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The ASU requires that public entities (including those with a single reportable 
segment) make all existing segment disclosures required by Topic 280 Segment Reporting on both an annual and interim basis. 
Significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker (CODM) and included within  
each reported measure of segment profit or loss (measure) and other segment items must also be disclosed. The CODM’s  
title and position is also required to be disclosed as well as how the CODM uses each reported measure to assess segment  
performance and in deciding how to allocate resources. The ASU does not change how a public entity determines its  
reportable segments.

The amendments related to the ASU were applied retrospectively to the segment information disclosed for all prior periods  
presented in the accompanying financial statements. Adoption of the amendments of the ASU did not impact any of the  
amounts presented in the basic financial statements.
 

Adoption of Accounting Standards Codification Topic 326

On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses 
(Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, as amended, which replaces the incurred loss methodology  
with an expected loss methodology referred to as current expected credit losses (“CECL”). The measurement of expected losses 
under the CECL methodology is applicable to financial assets measured at amortized cost, including loans, held-to-maturity debt 
securities and off-balance sheet credit exposures. In addition, Topic 326 made changes to the accounting for available-for-sale 
debt securities including the requirement to present credit losses as an allowance rather than a write-down on available-for-sale 
debt securities that management does not intend to sell or believes it is more likely than not they will be required to sell. The 
Company elected to account for accrued interest receivable separately from the amortized cost of loans and debt securities.

The Company adopted Topic 326 using the modified retrospective method for all financial assets measured at amortized cost  
and off-balance-sheet credit exposures. Results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2023 are presented under  
ASC 326, while prior period amounts continue to be reported in accordance with previously applicable GAAP. The Company 
recorded a net decrease to retained earnings of $282,897 as of January 1, 2023 for the cumulative effect of adopting Topic  
326. The transition adjustment impact includes a $401,613 impact due to the increase in ACL related to loans and a $118,716 
impact on deferred taxes. No other adjustments were made.

Concurrent with the adoption of ASU 2016-13, the Company adopted ASU 2022-02, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 
326), Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures. This ASU addresses and amends areas identified by the FASB as part  
of its post-implementation review of the accounting standard that introduced the current expected credit losses model. The 
amendments eliminate the accounting guidance for troubled debt restructurings by creditors that have adopted the current 
expected credit losses model and enhance the disclosure requirements for loan refinancings and restructurings made with  
borrowers experiencing financial difficulty. In addition, the amendments require disclosure of current-period gross write-offs  
for financing receivables and net investment in leases by year of origination in the vintage disclosures. The Company adopted 
ASU 2022-02 in conjunction with ASU 2016-13 on January 1, 2023 using the prospective approach.

Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated subsequent events for recognition and disclosure through February 25, 2025, which is the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available to be issued.
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NOTE 2 | DEBT SECURITIES

Debt securities have been classified in the consolidated statements of financial condition according to management’s intent.  
The amortized cost and fair values of securities with gross unrealized gains and losses at December 31, 2024 are as follows:

			   Gross	 Gross
	  	 Amortized 	 Unrealized 	 Unrealized 	 Fair
	 December 31, 2024	 Cost 	 Gains 	 Losses 	 Value

Securities Available for Sale
	 Municipal bonds	 $	 7,570,786	 $	 - 	 $ 	 (1,012,445) 	 $ 	 6,558,341

Securities Held to Maturity
	 Federal agency 		  14,595,433 		  - 		  (1,777,783) 		  12,817,650
	 Mortgage-backed securities 		  176,106,323 		  139,033 		  (15,839,305) 		  160,406,051

		  $	 190,701,756 	 $ 	 139,033 	 $ 	 (17,617,088) 	 $ 	 173,223,701

The amortized cost and fair values of securities with gross unrealized gains and losses at December 31, 2023 are as follows:

			   Gross	 Gross
	  	 Amortized 	 Unrealized 	 Unrealized 	 Fair
	 December 31, 2023	 Cost 	 Gains 	 Losses 	 Value

Securities Available for Sale
	 Municipal bonds 	 $ 	 7,708,493 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 (971,517) 	 $ 	 6,736,976

Securities Held to Maturity
	 Federal agency 	 $ 	 25,229,492 	 $ 	 39,622 	 $ 	 (1,664,448) 	 $ 	 23,604,666
	 Mortgage-backed securities 		  183,276,813 		  831,838 		  (12,864,264) 		  171,244,387

		  $ 	 208,506,305 	 $ 	 871,460 	 $ 	 (14,528,712) 	 $ 	 194,849,053

In 2022, the Company reassessed classification of certain investments and transferred various available-for-sale securities with 
amortized cost of $46,336,397 and fair value of $44,293,926 to held-to-maturity securities. As of December 31, 2024 and  
December 31, 2023, the unaccreted net unrealized loss amounted to $1,572,530 and $1,722,241, respectively. There were  
no transfers in 2024 and 2023.

Unrealized losses and fair values, aggregated by investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a 
continuous loss position, are summarized as follows as of December 31:

	 Less than 12 Months 	 Over 12 Months

			   Gross		  Gross
		  Fair 	 Unrealized 	 Fair 	 Unrealized
	 December 31, 2024	 Value 	 Losses 	 Value 	 Losses

Securities Available for Sale
	 Municipal bonds 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 6,558,341 	 $ 	 (1,012,445)

	 Less than 12 Months 	 Over 12 Months

			   Gross		  Gross
		  Fair 	 Unrealized 	 Fair 	 Unrealized
	 December 31, 2023	 Value 	 Losses 	 Value 	 Losses

Securities Available for Sale
	 Municipal bonds 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 6,736,976 	 $ 	 (971,517)
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At December 31, 2024 and 2023, no ACL was established for available-for-sale or held-to-maturity securities. Unrealized  
losses at December 31, 2024 are a result of expected fluctuations in the bond market primarily driven by changes in market 
interest rates.

Allowance for Credit Losses – Available-for-Sale Securities

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities are primarily composed of securities that are 
directly or implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and are highly rated by major rating agencies with a history of no credit 
losses. Timely payments of principal and interest are expected. Obligations of states and political subdivisions are of high credit 
quality, with all rated AA or higher. All issuers continue to make timely principal and interest payments. The decline in value in  
any of these securities is deemed to be temporary and not attributable to credit losses. Furthermore, the Company does not  
intend to sell, and it is likely that management will not be required to sell these securities prior to their anticipated recovery,  
and the decline in fair value is largely due to changes in interest rates and other market conditions.

Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securities

At December 31, 2024, and 2023 unrealized losses on held-to-maturity securities are primarily composed of securities that  
are directly or implicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government and are highly rated by major rating agencies with no history of  
credit losses. Timely payments of principal and interest are expected. The Company does not expect to incur credit losses on 
these securities.

The amortized cost and fair value of debt securities as of December 31, 2024, by contractual maturity are shown below:

	 Available-for-Sale	 Held-to-Maturity

		  Amortized 	 Fair 	 Amortized 	 Fair
		  Cost 	 Value 	 Cost 	 Value

Within 1 Year 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 -
After 1 Year Through 5 Years 		  - 		  - 		  2,149,714 		  2,122,521
After 5 Years Through 10 Years 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
After 10 Years Through 30 Years 		  7,570,786 		  6,558,341 		  12,445,719 		  10,695,129
Mortgage-Backed Securities 		  - 		  - 		  176,106,323 		  160,406,051

		  $ 	 7,570,786 	 $ 	 6,558,341 	 $ 	 190,701,756 	 $ 	 173,223,701

Debt securities with amortized cost totaling $185,416,306 and estimated fair values totaling $167,976,871 were pledged to 
secure borrowings with the Federal Home Loan Bank and the Federal Reserve Bank at December 31, 2024. Debt securities  
with amortized cost totaling $122,752,205 and estimated fair values totaling $110,756,573 were pledged to secure borrowings 
with the Federal Home Loan Bank at December 31, 2023.

The Company did not sell debt securities during 2024 and 2023.

NOTE 3 | STOCK INVESTMENTS, RESTRICTED

Restricted stock investments include the following at December 31 and are recorded at cost:

				    2024	 2023

Federal Home Loan Bank (FHLB) Stock 					     $ 	 2,951,600 	 $ 	 2,501,700
Federal Reserve Bank Stock 						      480,400 		  480,400
Pacific Coast Banker’s Bank Stock 	 	 	 	 	 	 144,000 	 	 144,000

						      $ 	 3,576,000 	 $ 	 3,126,100
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NOTE 4 | LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

The Company’s loan portfolio consists primarily of loans to borrowers within the Inland Empire region of Southern California. 
Although the Company seeks to avoid concentrations of loans to a single industry or based upon a single class of collateral, real 
estate and real estate associated businesses are among the principal industries in the Company’s market area and, as a result, 
the Company’s loan and collateral portfolios are, to some degree, concentrated in those industries. Most loans are secured by 
business assets, and commercial and residential real estate. Real estate and construction loans held for investment represented 
83 percent and 82 percent of total loans held for investment at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company has  
no concentration of loans with any one customer or industry.
 
Certain loans are pledged as collateral for available borrowings with the FHLB. Pledged loans totaled $136,187,755 and 
$126,127,376 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

There were no loans serviced for others at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

At December 31, the composition of the Company’s loans portfolio is as follows:

				    2024	 2023

Real estate, commercial 					     $ 	 163,558,818 	 $ 	 143,208,395
Real estate, consumer 						      1,810,337 		  1,872,823
Construction 						      4,053,648 		  1,623,838
Commercial 						      35,378,659 		  32,439,090
Other 						      434,033 		  172,347

	 Total gross loans 						      205,235,495 		  179,316,493

Allowance for credit losses 						      (4,623,739) 		  (4,465,622)
Deferred loan fees, net 						      (504,563) 		  (498,578)

	 Loans held for investment, net 					     $	 200,107,193 	 $	 174,352,293

Overdraft deposits of $39,946 and $24,785 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, have been reclassified from  
deposits and included in consumer loans.
 
Changes in the allowance for credit losses by loan portfolio segment for the year ended December 31, 2024, are summarized  
as follows:

	 Real Estate, 	 Real Estate,
	 Commercial 	 Consumer 	 Construction 	 Commercial 	 Other 	 Total

Balance at beginning of period 	 $ 	 3,569,539 	 $ 	 45,366 	 $ 	 42,842 	 $ 	 804,097 	 $ 	 3,778 	 $	 4,465,622

	 Provision (reversal) for credit losses 		  85,059 		  (6,588) 		  60,269 		  (158,917) 		  8,051 		  (12,126)

	 Loans charged off 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  (29,232) 		  (4,863) 		  (34,095)

	 Recoveries 		  15,002 		  - 		  - 		  189,336 		  - 		  204,338

Balance at end of period 	 $ 	 3,669,600 	 $ 	 38,778 	 $ 	 103,111 	 $ 	 805,284 	 $ 	 6,966 	 $	 4,623,739
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Changes in the allowance for credit losses by loan portfolio segment for the year ended December 31, 2023, are summarized  
as follows:
	 Real Estate, 	 Real Estate,
	 Commercial 	 Consumer 	 Construction 	 Commercial 	 Other 	 Total

Balance at beginning of period 	 $ 	 3,220,273 	 $ 	 31,970 	 $ 	 64,229 	 $ 	 778,997 	 $ 	 5,047 	 $ 	4,100,516

	 Impact of adopting ASC 326 		  385,466 		  7,112 		  (2,141) 		  11,411 		  (235) 		  401,613

	 Provision (reversal) for credit losses 		  (49,851) 		  6,284 		  (19,246) 		  (22,091) 		  4,464 		  (80,440)

	 Loans charged off 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  (20,082) 		  (17,762) 		  (37,844)

	 Recoveries 		  13,651 		  - 		  - 		  55,862 		  12,264 		  81,777

Balance at end of period 	 $ 	 3,569,539 	 $ 	 45,366 	 $ 	 42,842 	 $ 	 804,097 	 $ 	 3,778 	 $ 	4,465,622

In addition to the allowance for credit losses on loans, the Company has established an allowance for credit losses on off-balance 
sheet exposures of approximately $30,000,000 at December 31, 2024 and approximately $25,000,000 at December 31, 2023. 
The following table presents the activity in the allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet exposures for the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

				    2024 	 2023

Balance at Beginning of Period 					     $ 	 61,738 	 $ 	 66,298

	 Impact of adopting ASC 326 						      - 		  -

	 Provision (reversal) for credit losses 						      12,126		  (4,560)

Balance at End of Period 					     $ 	 73,864 	 $ 	 61,738

Credit Quality Indicators

The Company categorizes loans into risk categories based on relevant information about the ability of borrowers to service  
their debt such as current financial information, historical payment experience, collateral adequacy, credit documentation,  
and current economic trends, among other factors. The Company analyzes loans individually by classifying the loans as to  
credit risk. This analysis typically includes larger, non-homogeneous loans such as commercial real estate and commercial  
and industrial loans. This analysis is performed on an ongoing basis as new information is obtained. The Company uses the  
following definitions for risk ratings:

Pass - Loans classified as pass include loans not meeting the risk ratings defined below.

Special Mention - Loans classified as special mention have a potential weakness that deserves management’s close attention.  
If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the loan or of  
the institution’s credit position at some future date.

Substandard - Loans classified as substandard are inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity  
of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that  
jeopardize the liquidation of the debt. They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the institution will sustain  
some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.

Doubtful – Loans classified as doubtful have the weaknesses of those classified as substandard, with the added  
characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts,  
conditions and values, highly questionable and improbable.
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Based on the most recent analysis performed, the risk category of loans by class of loans and origination year as of December  
31, 2024, was as follows:

	 Term Loans Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year	 Revolving 	 Revolving
						      Loans 	 Loans
						      Amortized 	 Converted to
	 2024 	 2023 	 2022 	 2021 	 Prior 	 Cost Basis 	 Term 	 Total

Real Estate, Commercial
	 Pass 	 $ 	 33,577,090 	 $ 	 17,328,889 	 $ 	39,127,509 	 $ 	17,799,932 	 $ 	51,816,783 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	159,650,203
	 Special mention 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  3,474,317 		  - 		  - 		  3,474,317
	 Doubtful 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 	 $ 	 33,577,090 	 $ 	 17,328,889 	 $ 	39,127,509 	 $ 	17,799,932 	 $ 	55,291,100 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	163,124,520

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 -

Real Estate, Consumer
	 Pass 	 $ 	 501,777 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 500,122 	 $ 	 800,612 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,802,511
	 Special mention 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 		  -	  	 - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Doubtful 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 	 $ 	 501,777 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 500,122 	 $ 	 800,612 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,802,511

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 -

Construction
	 Pass 	 $ 	 4,017,077 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 4,017,077
	 Special mention 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Doubtful 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 	 $ 	 4,017,077 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 4,017,077

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 -

Commercial
	 Pass 	 $ 	 603,537 	 $ 	 2,272,470 	 $ 	 977,726 	 $ 	 7,307,801 	 $ 	 4,999,827 	 $ 	18,693,814 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 34,855,175
	 Special mention 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  494,512 		  - 		  494,512
	 Doubtful 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 	 $ 	 603,537 	 $ 	 2,272,470 	 $ 	 977,726 	 $ 	 7,307,801 	 $ 	 4,999,827 	 $ 	19,188,326 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 35,349,687

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 29,232 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 29,232

Other
	 Pass 	 $ 	 347,965 	 $ 	 36,833 	 $ 	 58 	 $ 	 10,213 	 $ 	 42,068 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 437,137
	 Special mention 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Doubtful 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 	 $ 	 347,965 	 $ 	 36,833 	 $ 	 58 	 $ 	 10,213 	 $ 	 42,068 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 437,137

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 4,863 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 4,863

		  Total 	 $ 	 39,047,446 	 $ 	 19,638,192 	 $ 	40,105,293 	 $ 	25,618,068 	 $ 	61,133,607 	 $ 	19,188,326 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	204,730,932
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The risk category of loans by class of loans and origination year as of December 31, 2023, was as follows:

	 Term Loans Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year	 Revolving 	 Revolving
						      Loans 	 Loans
						      Amortized 	 Converted to
	  	 2023 	 2022 	 2021 	 Prior 	 Cost Basis 	 Term 	 Total

Real Estate, Commercial
	 Pass 			   $	 14,630,225 	 $ 	 41,061,058 	 $ 	18,882,762 	 $ 	63,889,394 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	138,463,439
	 Special mention 				    - 		  - 		  579,114 		  405,928 		  - 		  - 		  985,042
	 Substandard 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  3,368,181 		  - 		  - 		  3,368,181
	 Doubtful 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 			   $ 	 14,630,225 	 $ 	 41,061,058 	 $ 	19,461,876 	 $ 	67,663,503 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	142,816,662

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 			   $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 -

Real Estate, Consumer
	 Pass 			   $ 	 499,067 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 512,518 	 $ 	 848,485 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,860,070
	 Special mention 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Doubtful 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 			   $ 	 499,067 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 512,518 	 $ 	 848,485 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,860,070

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 			   $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 -

Construction
	 Pass 			   $ 	 373,579 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,234,770 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,608,349
	 Special mention 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Doubtful 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 			   $ 	 373,579 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,234,770 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,608,349

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 			   $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 -

Commercial
	 Pass 			   $ 	 2,205,809 	 $ 	 1,676,025	 $ 	 7,484,175 	 $ 	 5,630,514 	 $ 	15,241,274 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 32,237,797
	 Special mention 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  122,690 		  - 		  122,690
	 Doubtful 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 			   $ 	 2,205,809 	 $ 	 1,676,025 	 $ 	 7,484,175 	 $ 	 5,630,514 	 $ 	15,363,964 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 32,360,487

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 			   $ 	 - 	 $ 	 949 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 19,133 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 20,082

Other
	 Pass 			   $ 	 71,672 	 $ 	 10,868 	 $ 	 32,878 	 $ 	 56,929 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 172,347
	 Special mention 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Substandard 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 Doubtful 				    - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -

		  Subtotal 			   $ 	 71,672 	 $ 	 10,868 	 $ 	 32,878 	 $ 	 56,929 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 172,347

	 Current period gross
		  charge-offs 			   $ 	 17,762 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 17,762

		  Total 			   $ 	 17,780,352 	 $ 	 42,747,951 	 $ 	28,726,217 	 $ 	74,199,431 	 $ 	15,363,964 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	178,817,915
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The following tables summarizes the aging of the past due loans by loan class within the portfolio segments as of December 31, 
2024 and 2023:

		  30-59 	 60-89 	 Greater
		  Days 	 Days 	 Than 	 Total 		  Total
	 December 31, 2024	 Past Due 	 Past Due 	 90-Days 	 Past Due 	 Non-accrual 	 Current

Real Estate, Commercial 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 733,558 	 $ 	 162,390,964
Real Estate, Consumer 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  1,802,511
Construction 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  4,017,076
Commercial 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  492,791 		  34,856,895
Other 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  437,137

	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 1,226,349 	 $ 	 203,504,583

	 December 31, 2023

Real Estate, Commercial 	 $ 	 186,637 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 186,637 	 $ 	 369,303 	 $ 	 142,260,723
Real Estate, Consumer 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  1,860,069
Construction 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  1,608,349
Commercial 				    - 		  - 				    122,690 		  32,237,797
Other 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  172,347

	 $ 	 186,637 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 186,637 	 $ 	 491,993 	 $ 	 178,139,285

There were six non-accrual loans totaling $1,226,349 as of December 31, 2024 and three non-accrual loans totaling  
$491,993 as of December 31, 2023. The Company recognized $0 of interest income on nonaccrual loans during the years  
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Occasionally, the Company may modify loans to borrowers who are experiencing financial difficulty. Loan modifications to  
borrowers experiencing financial difficulty may be in the form of principal forgiveness, term extension, an other-than- 
insignificant payment delay, interest rate reduction, or combination thereof. The Company had no loan modifications during  
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

There were no collateral dependent loans as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

There were no loans purchased or sold during the year ended December 31, 2024. 
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NOTE 5 | FIXED ASSETS

Company premises and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

				    2024	 2023

Land 					     $ 	 2,292,353 	 $ 	 1,868,422
Building 						      4,590,523 		  3,212,729
Furniture, Fixture and Equipment 						      2,085,331 		  1,818,293
Building and Leasehold Improvements 						      2,318,557 		  2,313,604
Automobile 						      53,284 		  53,283

							       11,340,048 		  9,266,331

Less Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization 					     (4,084,263) 		  (3,799,973)

Total Premises and Equipment 					     $ 	 7,255,785 	 $ 	 5,466,358
 
Depreciation and amortization expense for years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, amounted to $284,481 and $277,788, 
respectively.

NOTE 6 | LEASES

The Company leases a branch under an operating lease that expires on January 31, 2026. The amount of the lease liability and 
ROU asset is impacted by the lease term and the discount rate applied to determine the present value of future lease payments.

The lease includes one five-year option to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term by varying amounts.  
The exercise of renewal options is at the sole discretion of the Company. Renewal option periods were not included in the  
measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities as they are not considered reasonably certain of exercise.

The balance of ROU assets and lease liabilities are included in other assets and other liabilities on the consolidated statements  
of financial condition.
 
The consolidated statements of financial condition and supplemental information at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are shown 
below:

				    2024	 2023

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets Classified as Other Assets 	 	 	 $ 	 65,390 	 $ 	 126,110

Operating Lease Liabilities Classified as Other Liabilities 	 	 	 	 	 65,390 	 	 126,110

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term, in Years 					     1 		  2

Weighted Average Discount Rate 						      4.58% 		  4.58%
 
The Company elected, for all classes of underlying assets, not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead to  
account for them as a single lease component.
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The future minimum lease payments under the noncancelable operating lease are listed below as of December 31:

	 Year Ending

	 2025 			   $	 66,861
	 2026 				    5,585

			   Total lease payments 		  72,446

	 Less imputed interest 		  (7,056)
	
	 Present value of net future minimum lease payments 	 $ 	 65,390 

NOTE 7 | DEPOSITS

Interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing deposits consist of the following:

				    2024	 2023

NOW Accounts 					     $ 	 4,496,982 	 $ 	 4,948,305
Savings and Money Market 						      164,500,108 		  135,581,930
Time Certificate of Deposit Accounts under $250,000 	 	 	 	 	 8,258,280 	 	 8,092,789
Time Certificate of Deposit Accounts Equal to and over $250,000 	 	 	 	 4,945,333 	 	 4,046,350

	 Total interest-bearing deposits 						      182,200,703 		  152,669,374

	 Total noninterest-bearing deposits 						      166,639,133 		  167,131,411

	 Total deposits 					     $	 348,839,836 	 $	 319,800,785

 At December 31, 2024, the scheduled maturities of time deposits were as follows:

				    2024

		  Within 1 year 				    $ 	 12,897,430
		  After 1 year through 3 years 				    44,733
		  After 3 years through 5 years 				   261,450

						      $	 13,203,613 

The Company has two escrow companies that together account for 6.5% of total deposits on December 31, 2024.  
The Company had four escrow companies that together accounted for 5.0% of total deposits on December 31, 2023.

NOTE 8 | BORROWING ARRANGEMENTS

The Company had the ability to borrow up to $10,000,000 at December 31, 2024 in federal fund lines of credit on an  
unsecured basis from one of its primary correspondent banks. The Company had the ability to borrow up to $16,000,000  
at December 31, 2023 in federal fund lines of credit on an unsecured basis from two of its primary correspondent banks.  
There were no borrowings under these lines as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.
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Federal Home Loan Bank Advances 

As a member of the FHLB, the Company may borrow funds collateralized by securities or qualified loans. There were zero FHLB 
advances outstanding at December 31, 2024. FHLB advances of $15,000,000 outstanding at December 31, 2023, matured  
during 2024.

At December 31, 2024, collateral pledged to secure FHLB advances consisted of loans totaling $136,187,755 and debt  
securities totaling $66,235,382. Based on this collateral and the Company’s holding of FHLB stock, the Company’s total  
borrowing capacity on December 31, 2024 was $155,045,995. At December 31, 2023, collateral pledged to secure FHLB  
advances consisted of loans totaling $126,127,376 and debt securities totaling $36,048,742. Based on this collateral and the  
Company’s holding of FHLB stock, the Company’s total borrowing capacity on December 31, 2023 was $118,620,689. Total  
borrowing capacity was reduced by outstanding borrowings resulting in a remaining borrowing capacity as of December 31,  
2023 of $103,620,689.

Federal Reserve Bank Borrowings

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had the ability to borrow $97,204,334 and $95,605,418, respectively, from  
the Federal Reserve Bank. The Company pledged debt securities as collateral for this line. Federal Reserve borrowings as of  
December 31, 2024 totaled $60,000,000 at a rate of 4.5%. There were no FRB borrowings under this arrangement as of  
December 31, 2023.

On March 12, 2023, the Company was approved to obtain funding from the FRB’s Bank Term Funding Program (BTFP). The 
Company pledged eligible collateral totaling $95,605,418 as of December 31, 2023 with remaining borrowing capacity of 
$38,605,418. As of December 31, 2023, $57,000,000 was outstanding with a weighted average rate of 4.37%. Borrowings  
under the BTFP carry a term of up to 12 months and an interest rate of the one-year overnight index rate plus 10 basis points 
determined on the date of advance. Advances under this Program matured in 2024. As of December 31, 2024, the Company  
has no outstanding borrowing from this facility and has not pledged any collateral to this facility.

Subordinated Debt

On May 21, 2021, the Company issued $10,000,000 of unsecured subordinated debentures. From the original issue date  
until June 1, 2026, the Company will pay interest at a fixed rate of 4.25% on the debt semi-annually in arrears on June 1 and  
December 1 of each year beginning December 1, 2021. From June 1, 2026 on, the Company will pay interest at variable rate  
tied to 3-month SOFR plus 356 basis points on the debt on each March 1, June 1, September 1 and December 1 until the  
maturity date or redemption. The Company may, at its option, redeem some or all of the debt on or after June 1, 2026. As of  
December 31, 2024 and 2023, accrued interest payable amounted to $35,417. Interest expense amounted to $450,173 for  
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

NOTE 9 | SUBORDINATED NOTES PAYABLE TO SUBSIDIARY TRUST

On October 25, 2006, Chino Statutory Trust I (the Trust), a newly formed Connecticut statutory business trust and a  
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, issued an aggregate of $3,000,000 of principal amount of Capital Securities (the  
Trust Preferred Securities) and $93,000 in Common Securities. The securities issued by the Trust are fully guaranteed by the 
Company with respect to distributions and amounts payable upon liquidation, redemption, or repayment. The entire proceeds 
to the Trust from the sale of the Trust Preferred Securities were used by the Trust to purchase $3,000,000 in principal amount 
of the Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures due December 15, 2036 issued by the Company (the Subordinated 
Debt Securities). The Company issued an additional $93,000 in principal amount of the Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest 
Debentures due December 15, 2036, in exchange for its investment in the Trust’s Common Securities. During 2006 and 2007  
the Company used approximately $522,000 and $2,478,000, respectively, from the proceeds of $3,000,000 to repurchase and 
retire Company stock. There was no cost to the Trust associated with the issuance.
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The Subordinated Debt Securities bear interest equal to the 3-month CME Term SOFR plus tenor spread adjustment of 0.26%, 
plus 1.68% (adjusted quarterly). At December 12, 2024 SOFR rate was 4.36% and the tenor spread adjustment 0.26%, resulting 
in an interest rate of 6.30% from December 16, 2024 to March 16, 2025. At December 15, 2023, SOFR rate was 5.65%,  
resulting in an interest rate of 7.33% from December 16, 2023 to March 14, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, accrued interest payable to the Trust amounted to $7,875 and $9,158, respectively.  
Interest expense for Trust Preferred Securities amounted to $218,679 and $210,306, for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively.

NOTE 10 | INCOME TAXES

The asset and liability method is used in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities and are measured using the 
enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

The following is a summary of the provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31:

				    2024	 2023
Currently Payable
	 Federal 						      $	 1,272,113 	 $ 	 1,317,325
	 State 							       728,156		  738,679

								        2,000,269 		  2,056,004

Deferred Taxes
	 Federal 							       5,578 		  (82,280)
	 State 							       23,275 		  (12,241)

								        28,853 		  (94,521)

		  Total provision for income taxes 				    $	 2,029,122	 $	 1,961,483

A comparison of the federal statutory income tax rates to the Company’s effective income tax rates at December 31 follows:

				    2024	 2023

Statutory Federal Tax Rate 						      21.0 % 	 21.0 %
Increase (Decrease) Resulting From
	 State taxes, net of Federal tax benefit 	 	 	 	 	 	 8.3	 8.4
	 Tax-exempt earnings on life insurance policies 					     (0.7) 	 (0.6)
	 Tax-exempt interest from municipal bonds 					     (0.2) 	 (0.3)
	 Other, net 						      (0.1) 	 (0.1)

		  Effective tax rate 						      28.3 % 	 28.4 %
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The components of the net deferred tax asset, included in other assets on the consolidated statements of financial condition, 
were as follows at December 31:

				    2024	 2023
Deferred Tax Assets
	 Allowance for credit losses 					     $ 	 1,000,407	 $ 	 1,003,979
	 Unrealized loss on securities available for sale 					     727,671 		  758,293
	 State tax 						      157,160 		  150,964
	 Deferred compensation and benefits 	 	 	 	 	 	 97,155 	 	 102,643
	 Nonaccrual interest 						      40,266 		  23,683
	 Off balance sheet reserve 						      21,837 		  18,252
	 Other 							       99,516 		  165,573

								        2,144,012 		  2,223,387

Deferred Tax Liabilities
	 Depreciation and amortization 						      (111,254) 		  (122,223)
	 Deferred loan costs 						      (120,158) 		  (93,626)
	 Other 							       (105,654)		  (141,117)

								        (337,066) 		  (356,966)

		  Net deferred tax asset 					     $ 	 1,806,946 	 $ 	 1,866,421
 
The Company records interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of income tax expense. There was no  
penalty or interest expense recorded as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company does not expect the total amount of  
unrecognized tax benefits to significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months.

Tax years ended on or after December 31, 2021 are open to audit and remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue 
Service. Tax years ended on or after December 31, 2020 are open and remain subject to examination by the California  
Franchise Tax Board.
 

NOTE 11 | OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The following sets forth the breakdown of other operating expenses for the years ended December 31:

				    2024	 2023

Data Processing Fees 					     $ 	 792,161 	 $ 	 788,683
Deposit Products and Services 						      249,206 		  210,050
Professional Fees 						      339,279 		  318,150
Regulatory Assessments 						      280,204 		  253,395
Advertising and Marketing 						      154,835 		  141,571
Directors’ Fees and Expenses 						      165,705 		  149,880
Other Expenses 						      724,253 		  707,811

	 Total non-interest expenses 					     $ 	 2,705,643 	 $ 	 2,569,540
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NOTE 12 | EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company has a 401(k) savings and retirement plan (the Plan) that includes substantially all employees. Employees may  
contribute up to 100 percent of their compensation subject to certain limits based on Federal tax law. The Company has  
implemented the Plan based on safe harbor provisions. Under the Plan, the Company will match 100 percent of an employee’s  
contribution up to the first 3 percent of compensation, and 50 percent of an employee’s contribution up to the next 2 percent  
of compensation. Matching contributions will immediately be 100 percent vested. For the years ended December 31, 2024  
and 2023, the Company matching contributions attributable to the Plan amounted to $139,650 and $134,087, respectively.

NOTE 13 | COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Employment Agreement

The Company entered into a three-year employment agreement with a key officer expiring on June 30, 2027. The agreement 
provides for an annual base salary plus an incentive bonus equal to 5 percent of the Bank’s net income. In addition, the key  
officer may receive a discretionary bonus determined by the Board of Directors. Employment may be terminated for cause,  
as defined, without incurring obligations. In the event of termination without cause, the key officer is entitled to severance  
compensation equal to at least six months’ salary.

Salary Continuation Agreements

The Company has entered into salary continuation agreements, which provide for payments to certain officers at the age of 
retirement. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, $426,559 and $447,488, respectively, of deferred compensation related to  
these agreements were included in other liabilities.

The plans are funded through life insurance policies that generate a cash surrender value to fund the future benefits.
 

NOTE 14 | OFF BALANCE SHEET ACTIVITIES

Credit-Related Financial Instruments

The Company is a party to credit-related financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business to 
meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to grant loans, undisbursed lines  
of credit, standby letters of credit, and commercial letters of credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements  
of credit and interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the balance sheet.

The Company’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Company uses  
the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the following financial instruments were outstanding:

			   2024	 2023

		  Undisbursed loans 			   $ 	 30,525,427 	 $ 	 24,695,064
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Commitments to grant loans are agreements to lend to customers as long as there is no violation of any condition established  
in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of a 
fee. Since some of the commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements. Undisbursed commitments included $4,505,562 and $4,220,420 of commitments at fixed 
rates for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company evaluates each customer’s creditworthiness 
on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Company upon extension of credit, is 
based on management’s credit evaluation of the customer. Collateral held varies but may include accounts receivable, inventory, 
equipment, income-producing commercial properties, residential properties, and properties under construction.

Undisbursed lines of credit are commitments for possible future extensions of credit to existing customers. These lines of credit 
are sometimes unsecured and may not necessarily be drawn upon to the total extent to which the Company is committed.

Standby and commercial letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Company to guarantee the performance of 
a customer to a third party. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending 
loans to customers. There were no standby letters of credit or commercial letters of credit at December 31, 2024 and 2023.
 

NOTE 15 | RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of business, the Company has granted loans to certain officers, directors and companies with which it  
is associated. All such loans and commitments to lend were made under terms that are consistent with the Company’s normal 
lending policies.

Aggregate related party loan transactions were as follows as of and for the years ended December 31:

				    2024	 2023

Balance, January 1 					     $ 	 29,133 	 $ 	 -

	 Advances 						      5,285 		  29,133
	 Repayments, net of borrowings 						      (23,702) 		  -	
	 Reclassified Loans, Reg O status change 	 	 	 	 	 - 	 	 -

Balance as of December 31 					     $ 	 10,716 	 $ 	 29,133
  
Deposits from related parties held by the Company at December 31, 2024 and 2023, amounted to $19,693,875 and 
$11,460,870, respectively.

NOTE 16 | DIVIDENDS

During 2023, the Board of Directors declared, and the Company issued a 20% stock dividend to shareholders of record on  
July 6, 2023. As a matter of accommodation, cash dividends were issued to holders of fractional shares. The stock dividend  
consisted of 535,171 shares of stock issued on July 6, 2023, at which time the trading price was $11.74 per share. The 20%  
stock dividend was treated as a stock split for reporting purposes whereas no reclassification from retained earnings to  
common stock was necessary. There were no stock dividends declared during 2024.

Banking regulations require maintaining certain capital levels and may limit the dividends paid by the bank to the holding  
company or by the holding company to shareholders.
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NOTE 17 | REGULATORY MATTERS

Banks and bank holding companies are subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking agencies. 
Capital adequacy guidelines and, additionally for banks, prompt corrective action regulations, involve quantitative measures  
of assets, liabilities, and certain off balance sheet items calculated under regulatory accounting practices. Capital amounts  
and classifications are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators. Failure to meet capital requirements can initiate 
regulatory action. The net unrealized gain or loss on available-for-sale securities is not included in computing regulatory capital. 
Management believes as of December 31, 2024, the Company and Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements to which they 
are subject.

Prompt corrective action regulations provide five classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized, 
significantly undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms are not used to represent overall financial 
condition. If adequately capitalized, regulatory approval is required to accept brokered deposits. If undercapitalized, capital  
distributions are limited, as is asset growth and expansion, and capital restoration plans are required. At December 31, 2024  
and 2023, the most recent regulatory notifications categorized the Bank as well capitalized under the regulatory framework  
for prompt corrective action. There are no conditions or events since that notification that management believes have changed 
the institution’s category.

In 2019, the federal banking agencies jointly issued a final rule that provides for an optional, simplified measure of capital  
adequacy, the community bank leverage ratio framework (CBLR framework), for qualifying community banking organizations, 
consistent with Section 201 of the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act.

The community bank leverage ratio removes the requirement for qualifying banking organizations to calculate and report  
risk-based capital but rather only requires a Tier 1 to average assets (leverage) ratio. Qualifying banking organizations that elect 
to use the community bank leverage ratio framework and that maintain a leverage ratio greater than the required minimum will 
be considered to have satisfied the generally applicable risk based and leverage capital requirements in the agencies’ capital  
rules (generally applicable rule) and, if applicable, will be considered to have met the well capitalized ratio requirements for 
purposes of section 38 of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act. The community bank leverage ratio minimum requirement is 9%. 
An eligible banking organization is provided a two-quarter grace period to correct a ratio that falls below this required amount, 
provided that the bank maintains a leverage ratio greater than 8%.

An eligible banking organization can opt out of the CBLR framework and revert to the risk-weighting framework without  
restriction. As of December 31, 2024, both the Company and Bank were qualifying community banking organizations as  
defined by the federal banking agencies and elected to measure capital adequacy under the CBLR framework.



37

CHINO COMMERCIAL BANCORP | ANNUAL REPORT 2024

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

The following table presents the Bank’s and Company’s capital ratios as of December 31 (dollar amounts in thousands):

		  Minimum To Be
		  Well Capitalized Under
		  Prompt Corrective
	 Actual 	 Action CBLR Framework

	 Amount 	 Ratio 	 Amount 	 Ratio

As of December 31, 2024
	 Tier 1 Capital to Average Assets
		  Consolidated 	 $ 	 47,656 	 10.40% 	 $ 	 41,247 	 9.00%
		  Bank 		  50,418 	 11.01% 		  41,202 	 9.00%

		  Minimum To Be
		  Well Capitalized Under
		  Prompt Corrective
	 Actual 	 Action CBLR Framework

	 Amount 	 Ratio 	 Amount 	 Ratio

As of December 31, 2023
	 Tier 1 Capital to Average Assets
		  Consolidated 	 $ 	 42,516 	 9.26% 	 $ 	 41,327 	 9.00%
		  Bank 		  45,631 	 9.95% 		  36,758 	 9.00%

Though the Company is not required to maintain similar capital amounts and ratios until total assets reach or exceed $3 billion, 
the Company has maintained capital amounts and ratios that are similar to those of the Bank.

The California Financial Code provides that a company may not make a cash distribution to its shareholders in excess of the  
lesser of the company’s undivided profits or the company’s net income for its last three fiscal years less the amount of any  
distribution made to the company’s shareholders during the same period. In addition, the Company and the Bank may not  
pay dividends that would result in its capital levels being reduced below the minimum requirements as reflected.

NOTE 18 | FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The following section describes the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis, as  
well as the general classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy.

Financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis include the following:

Securities Available for Sale - The securities classified as available for sale are reported at fair value utilizing Level 2 inputs.  
For these securities, the Company obtains fair value measurements from an independent pricing service. The fair value  
measurements consider observable data that may include dealer quotes, market spreads, cash flows, the U.S. Treasury yield 
curve, live trading levels, trade execution data, market consensus prepayment speeds, credit information and the bond’s terms 
and conditions, among other things.
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The table below presents the balance of debt securities available for sale at December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of  
which is measured on a recurring basis:

	 Fair Value Measurements Using

	 	 Quoted Prices 	 Significant
	 	 in Active 	 Other 	 Significant
		  Markets for 	 Observable 	 Unobservable
		  Identical Assets 	 Inputs 	 Inputs
	 December 31, 2024 	 (Level 1) 	 (Level 2) 	 (Level 3) 	 Total

Securities Available for Sale
	 Municipal bonds 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 6,558,341 	 $ 	 - 	 $	 6,558,341
	
		  December 31, 2023

Securities Available for Sale
	 Municipal bonds 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 6,736,976 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 6,736,976

NOTE 19 | FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at which the asset or obligation could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based 
on relevant market information and information about the financial instrument. These estimates do not reflect any premium or 
discount that could result from offering for sale at one time the entire holdings of a particular financial instrument. Because no 
market value exists for a significant portion of the financial instruments, fair value estimates are based on judgments regarding 
future expected loss experience, current economic conditions, risk characteristics of various financial instruments, and other 
factors. These estimates are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and matters of judgment and, therefore, cannot be  
determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

Fair value estimates are based on financial instruments both on and off the balance sheet without attempting to estimate 
the value of anticipated future business and the value of assets and liabilities that are not considered financial instruments.  
Additionally, tax consequences related to the realization of the unrealized gains and losses can have a potential effect on fair 
value estimates and have not been considered in many of the estimates.
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The estimated fair values and related carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2024, are  
as follows:

	 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2024

	 	 Quoted Prices 	 Significant
	 	 in Active 	 Other 	 Significant
		  Markets for 	 Observable 	 Unobservable
	 Carrying 	 Identical Assets 	 Inputs 	 Inputs
	 Value 	 (Level 1) 	 (Level 2) 	 (Level 3) 	 Total

Financial Assets
	 Cash and cash equivalents 	 $ 	 45,287,648 	 $ 	 45,287,648 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 45,287,648
	 Debt securities
		  available for sale 		  6,558,341 		  - 		  6,558,341 		  - 		  6,558,341
	 Debt securities
		  held to maturity 		  190,701,756 		  - 		  173,223,701 		  - 		  173,223,701
	 Loans, net 		  200,107,193 		  - 		  - 		  199,382,000 		  199,382,000
	 Stock investments 		  3,576,000 		  - 		  3,576,000 		  - 		  3,576,000
	 Accrued interest receivable 		  1,539,506 		  - 		  1,539,506 		  - 		  1,539,506
	 Company owned life insurance 		  8,482,043 		  - 		  8,482,043 		  - 		  8,482,043
	 Trups common securities 		  93,000 		  - 		  93,000 		  - 		  93,000

Financial Liabilities
	 Deposits
	 Noninterest-bearing
		  demand deposits 	 $ 	166,639,133 	 $ 	166,639,133 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	166,639,133
	 Interest-bearing deposits 		  182,200,703 		  - 		  157,102,000 		  - 		  157,102,000
	 FHLB advances 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  - 		  -
	 FRB borrowing 		  60,000,000 		  - 		  60,000,000 		  - 		  60,000,000
	 Subordinated debt 		  10,000,000 		  - 		  10,000,000 		  - 		  10,000,000
	 Subordinated notes payable 		  3,093,000 		  - 		  3,093,000 		  - 		  3,093,000
	 Accrued interest payable 		  132,812 		  - 		  132,812 		  - 		  132,812
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The estimated fair values and related carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2023, are  
as follows:

	 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2023

	 	 Quoted Prices 	 Significant
	 	 in Active 	 Other 	 Significant
		  Markets for 	 Observable 	 Unobservable
	 Carrying 	 Identical Assets 	 Inputs 	 Inputs
	 Value 	 (Level 1) 	 (Level 2) 	 (Level 3) 	 Total

Financial Assets
	 Cash and cash equivalents 	 $ 	 35,528,937 	 $ 	 35,528,937 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 35,528,937
	 Debt securities
		  available for sale 		  6,736,976 		  - 		  6,736,976 		  - 		  6,736,976
	 Debt securities
		  held to maturity 		  208,506,305 		  - 		  194,849,053 		  - 		  194,849,053
	 Loans, net 		  174,352,293 		  - 		  - 		  162,632,000 		  162,632,000
	 Stock investments 		  3,126,100 		  - 		  3,126,100 		  - 		  3,126,100
	 Accrued interest receivable 		  1,439,178 		  - 		  1,439,178 		  - 		  1,439,178
	 Company owned life insurance 		  8,247,174 		  - 		  8,247,174 		  - 		  8,247,174
	 Trups common securities 		  93,000 		  - 		  93,000 		  - 		  93,000

Financial Liabilities
	 Deposits
	 Noninterest-bearing
		  demand deposits 	 $ 	167,131,411 	 $ 	167,131,411 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	 - 	 $ 	167,131,411
	 Interest-bearing deposits 		  152,669,374 		  - 		  134,236,000 		  -		  134,236,000
	 FHLB advances 		  15,000,000 		  - 		  15,000,000 		  - 		  15,000,000
	 FRB borrowing 		  57,000,000 		  - 		  57,000,000 		  - 		  57,000,000
	 Subordinated debt 		  10,000,000 		  - 		  10,000,000 		  - 		  10,000,000
	 Subordinated notes payable 		  3,093,000 		  - 		  3,093,000 		  - 		  3,093,000
	 Accrued interest payable 		  2,156,153 		  - 		  2,156,153 		  - 		  2,156,153
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